No. S251709

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PROTECTING OUR WATER & ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

SUPREME COURT FILED

vs.

JAN 1 4 2019

STANISLAUS COUNTY et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Case No. F073634

Appeal from the Stanislaus County Superior Court Case No. 2006153 The Honorable Roger M. Beauchesne, Judge, Presiding

DEFENDANTS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*Matthew D. Zinn (SBN 214587) Sarah H. Sigman (SBN 260924) Lauren M. Tarpey (SBN 321775) Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger LLP 396 Hayes Street San Francisco, CA 94102 Telephone: (415) 552-7272

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. [As stated in the Petition for Review] The state Department of Water Resources publishes construction standards for wells to ensure they will not contaminate groundwater. Many counties, including Defendant Stanislaus County, implement those standards by requiring permits for well-construction. These permits cannot be denied or modified to address any environmental impact other than to adjust a well's distance from a potential source of contamination. The Court of Appeal concluded that this represents enough discretion to trigger application of the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA").

Was the Court of Appeal here correct, or was the Second District Court of Appeal in *California Water Impact Network v.* County of San Luis Obispo (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 666 correct in holding that the same state standards are not discretionary because they provide insufficient authority to require mitigation for environmental impacts that might be revealed by CEQA review?

- 2. [As stated in the Answer to Petition for Review]
- a. Does Stanislaus County's local groundwater well permit ordinance incorporate the state Bulletins' general discretionary standards, and thereby confer discretionary authority triggering CEQA review?
- b. Do the state Bulletins' specific discretionary standards referenced in footnote 8 of the Opinion confer discretionary authority triggering CEQA review?
- c. Does the fact that the County's well permit ordinance authorizes a limited range of measures the County can

impose on well permits to protect the environment render additional mitigation measures that may be identified in an Environmental Impact Report legally infeasible?¹

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Court granted Stanislaus County's petition for review to resolve a split between the Fifth and Second District Courts of Appeal over whether the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") applies to local governments' issuance of permits for construction of groundwater wells. CEQA applies only to discretionary agency actions, and the two courts disagreed about whether the standards for well-construction permits make the approval of those permits discretionary or ministerial.

The state Department of Water Resources ("DWR") has adopted Bulletin No. 74: Water Well Standards, State of California ("Bulletin"), which provides model design and construction standards to prevent wells from inadvertently contaminating groundwater. Stanislaus and other counties throughout the state have adopted ordinances incorporating the Bulletin's standards with some local modifications. These ordinances require a permit for the construction of new wells. The County Department of En-

¹ The Answer to the Petition for Review included a fourth question for review about due process that applies only to a related case, *Coston v. County of Stanislaus* (No. S251709). Unlike *Coston*, this case involves no due process claim, and thus inclusion of that issue in the Answer appears to be an error. The County accordingly does not address it here.

vironmental Resources ("DER") applies the Bulletin's standards, as modified by the County's ordinance, in issuing well-construction permits.

In California Water Impact Network v. County of San Luis Obispo (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 666 ("California Water"), the Second District held that the Bulletin's standards do not call for San Luis Obispo County's permitting agency to exercise discretion in issuing well-construction permits and thus that those permits are not subject to CEQA. In this case, the Fifth District reached the opposite conclusion, based on one portion of one standard in the Bulletin, which requires that wells be separated from sources of potential groundwater contamination.

The court in *California Water* was correct. The Bulletin provides dozens of technical standards that govern the design and construction of wells statewide, across an array of physical conditions. County agencies apply relevant portions of the Bulletin's standards to the particular conditions on each property when issuing permits. The court below erred in holding that these permits are discretionary based solely on a single word—"adequate"—in one sentence of one of these standards.

Recognizing that the difference between ministerial and discretionary action is not binary, courts have developed a "functional test" for discretion under CEQA. Under that test, courts look to whether the applicable statute or ordinance gives the agency sufficient authority to alter the project to avoid or minimize the proposed project's environmental consequences. If so, the project is discretionary. As this Court has held, that test "rec-

ognizes that unless a public agency can shape the project in a way that would respond to concerns raised in an [Environmental Impact Report] . . . environmental review would be a meaningless exercise." (Mountain Lion Foundation v. Fish and Game Com. (1997) 16 Cal.4th 105, 117.)

The County's concern in petitioning for review was precisely that: the decision below would force DER to conduct CEQA review for well-construction permits although it lacks the ability to require permittees to mitigate their environmental impacts. As the Court of Appeal acknowledged, DER can, at most, require a permit applicant to shift the location of a well away from a source of potential contamination or modify the depth or material of the well casing. It can do nothing to affect the amount of water pumped or the activities for which that water is used. Nor can it alter the location of the well for any other purpose, such as to avoid habitat or interference with a neighbor's well.

The Court of Appeal believed its conclusion was dictated by CEQA, and thus, while recognizing the potentially counterproductive consequences of its decision, it directed the County to the Legislature for relief. But that legislative referral was unnecessary. The established test for discretion is not so rigid that it requires futile environmental review, as the *California Water* decision shows. This Court should reverse the decision below and thereby create uniformity for the 47 counties that apply the Bulletin's standards in issuing well-construction permits.

STATUTORY BACKGROUND

I. Groundwater well permitting in California

The state Department of Water Resources first published Bulletin No. 74: Water Well Standards, State of California 50 years ago to advise local governments how to protect groundwater "against adverse effects caused by improper well construction or abandonment." (Appellants' Appendix ("AA") 2:196.) From the outset, Bulletin 74 focused narrowly on practices and materials that would prevent new wells from introducing contaminants to groundwater. (AA 2:194 [Bulletin 74: wells should be designed to protect "those subsurface conditions which existed prior to construction of the well and which prevented the entrance of waters of unsanitary and inferior mineral quality into usable ground water supplies"].) Accordingly, Bulletin 74 recommended technical standards for the design, construction, and destruction of wells that local agencies should implement to prevent wells from introducing contaminants to groundwater. (AA 2:199, 210-35.)

DWR later updated and expanded the Bulletin, publishing a revised version in 1981 and an update to some standards in 1991. Together, Bulletin 74-81 and 74-90 (collectively, "the Bulletin") provide the current standards. (AA 3:433, fn. 1; 3:521, 536.) Throughout the revisions, each iteration of Bulletin 74 has maintained its fundamental focus on ensuring that "wells [are] constructed . . . such that they do not contribute to the impairment of the quality of California's ground water supplies." (AA 3:431; see also AA 3:536.)

The original Bulletin 74 and Bulletin 74-81 provided recommendations, rather than mandatory standards for well construction. Then in 1986, the Legislature amended Water Code section 13801 to require local governments to adopt well construction ordinances that "meet[] or exceed[] the standards contained in" the current version of the Bulletin.2 (Stats. 1986, ch. 1152, § 4; see also Water Code § 13801(c); AA 3:536.) In doing so, the Legislature reiterated the concern behind the Bulletin that "[i]mproperly constructed and abandoned water wells . . . can allow contaminated water on the surface to flow down the well casing, thereby contaminating the usable groundwater." (Water Code § 13701(b); see also Stats. 1986, ch. 1152, § 1.) As a result, counties and local water agencies throughout the state now regulate well construction and destruction by incorporating into their own ordinances, and in some cases modifying, the standards provided in the Bulletin.

In 1973, long before Water Code section 13801 required it to act, the County adopted its well-construction ordinance—codified as Chapter 9.36 of the County Code ("Ordinance" or "Chapter 9.36")—which incorporates portions of the Bulletin. (See Stanislaus County Code § 9.36.150 ["[S]tandards for the construction, repair, reconstruction or abandonment of wells shall be as

² It also called on the State Water Resources Control Board to develop a model ordinance, which would apply in local jurisdictions that failed to adopt their own ordinances. (Water Code § 13801(d).)

set forth in Chapter II" of the Bulletin, except standards expressly modified or supplemented in Chapter 9.36.].)3 Currently, 47 of the state's 58 counties, ranging from Del Norte to Imperial, incorporate the Bulletin's standards into their local ordinances, using substantially the same incorporation language as in Stanislaus County's Ordinance. (Defendants' Request for Judicial Notice ("DRJN"), Ex. 1; see also California Water, supra, 25 Cal.App.5th 666, 675-76 [discussing San Luis Obispo County's ordinance].) Each of these counties, like Stanislaus, relies principally on the Bulletin to provide the standards governing wellconstruction. Many counties add provisions tailored to address local needs. (E.g., § 9.36.070 [Stanislaus; excusing certain agricultural wells from annular seal requirement]; DRJN, Ex. 1 [Merced; requiring that groundwater wells penetrating Corcoran clay be constructed to prevent intermixing of water above and below the clay layer]; *ibid*. [Kern; prohibiting injection of chemicals into well discharge pipes].) But the Bulletin's default standards, including those governing well location and seal depth discussed below, govern most well-construction throughout the state.

II. The CEQA process

An agency begins the three-step CEQA process by determining whether a proposed action is a discretionary project. (Pub.

³ Further unspecified statutory references are to the County Code. Copies of Chapters 9.36 and 9.37 of the Code (AA 1:148-51, 153-58) are attached to this brief for ease of reference.

Resources Code § 21080(a); Cal. Code Regs. tit. 14 ("CEQA Guidelines") § 15002(i).) A project is an activity either undertaken or approved by a public agency which may cause a physical change in the environment. (Pub. Resources Code § 21065; CEQA Guidelines § 15378.) "A discretionary project is one subject to 'judgmental controls" that require agency staff to make decisions based on its own independent reasoning rather than objective constraints. (Mountain Lion Foundation, supra, 16 Cal.4th 105, 112.) Only discretionary approvals are subject to CEQA.

Second, if the action is discretionary, the agency must determine whether it is nevertheless exempt under a statutory or categorical exemption. (Pub. Resources Code §§ 21080(b), 21080.01-.07; CEQA Guidelines §§ 15300-33.) If the action is exempt under either scenario, no CEQA compliance is required.

Third, for actions subject to CEQA, the agency conducts an initial study to determine if the project may have a significant effect on the environment. (CEQA Guidelines § 15063(a).) If there is no substantial evidence that the project may cause a significant effect on the environment, the agency prepares a negative declaration that briefly describes the reasons supporting its determination. (See *id.* §§ 15063(b)(2), 15070-75.) Otherwise, it must prepare a full environmental impact report ("EIR"). (*Id.* §§ 15063(b)(1), 15080-97; Pub. Resources Code §§ 21100, 21151.)

In the initial study and any eventual EIR, the agency must consider all reasonably foreseeable direct and indirect impacts on the environment, including cumulative impacts. (See CEQA Guidelines §§ 15064(d), (h), 15355 ["Cumulative impacts' refer to

two or more individual effects which, when considered together, are considerable or which compound or increase other environmental impacts."].) An EIR also must identify project alternatives and mitigation measures that would reduce the severity of significant impacts. (CEQA Guidelines § 15126.6.) If the agency approves the action, it must adopt mitigation measures, if feasible, as conditions of its approval. (Pub. Resources Code § 21002.) The CEQA Guidelines define "feasible" as "capable of being accomplished in a successful manner within a reasonable period of time, taking into account economic, environmental, legal, social, and technological factors." (CEQA Guidelines § 15364.) If an agency lacks authority to require a mitigation measure as a condition of approval, then it may find the measure infeasible and need not adopt it. (Id. § 15126.4(a)(5); see also id. § 15091(a).)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The County adopts the Ordinance in 1973 to require permits for the construction of groundwater wells.

In 1973, shortly after DWR first issued the Bulletin, the County Board of Supervisors enacted the Ordinance "to protect the ground waters of the state . . . by regulating the location, construction, maintenance, abandonment and destruction of all wells which may affect the quality and potability of underground waters." (§ 9.36.010; see also AA 3:664-72 [Ordinance No. N.S.-443], 3:674 [Staff report for adoption of the Ordinance: "the intent of the Ordinance[] is[] protecting our underground water supply from degradation through improper construction of water wells in this county"].)

The Ordinance requires every person seeking to construct, repair, or destroy a well in the County to first obtain a permit from DER.⁴ (See AA 3:664-72, 1:148-51; § 9.36.030.) DER applies the "standards for the construction, repair, reconstruction or abandonment of wells . . . as set forth in Chapter II" of the Bulletin to the permit application, except standards expressly modified or supplemented in Chapter 9.36.⁵ (§ 9.36.150.)

The Bulletin's standards adopted by the Ordinance govern three types of wells: water (serving domestic, agricultural, and industrial uses), monitoring, and cathodic protection.⁶ (AA 3:521, 536-37, 541-601; see also AA 3:447-81.) For each type of well, the Bulletin specifies standards for construction—including subsections governing location, sealing, surface construction, casing, and development, with additional standards applicable to monitoring and cathodic protection wells—and destruction. (E.g., AA

⁴ Plaintiffs in this case have challenged only the County's issuance of groundwater well *construction* permits. (AA 1:8-31 [Complaint].)

⁵ Modified or supplemental construction standards include sections 9.36.060 (wells must prevent surface water and "foreign matter" from entering the well), 9.36.070 (requiring a sanitary seal and, on non-agricultural wells, an "annular seal"), and 9.36.080 (well equipment must be disinfected).

⁶ Cathodic protection wells "house devices to minimize electrolytic corrosion of metallic pipelines, tanks, and other facilities in contact with the ground." (AA 3:584.)

3:525-532.) For example, standards for water well construction include the following:

- <u>Bulletin Section 8(A-D)</u>: Well Location with Respect to Pollutants, Contaminants, and Structures—Establishes minimum safe distances between wells and, e.g., sewer lines, leach fields, cesspools, or animal enclosures, which shall be increased in the event of "adverse conditions"; wells should be located up gradient from contaminants and outside of areas that flood; the ground surface must slope away from the well (AA 3:450-53; 3:542-43).
- <u>Bulletin Section 9(A-F)</u>: Sealing the Upper Annular Space⁷—Sets minimum depths of well seals below ground for six types of wells with additional conditions based on the surrounding soil type; specifies appropriate sealing materials, including types of cement and clay, ratios of cement to water, and minimum setting times; provides a mathematical formula for minimum seal thickness; specifies sealing methods (AA 3:453-460; 3:543-52).
- <u>Bulletin Section 10(A-F)</u>: Surface Construction Features—Well openings must be above the surface of the ground and covered by a watertight cap; requires check valves and air vents in particular instances (AA 3:460-64; 3:552-54).
- <u>Bulletin Section 12(A-B)</u>: Casing—Lists grades of steel, plastic, and concrete approved for use in well casings; designates appropriate methods for installing and joining casing segments (AA 3:465-470; 3:554-56).

If an application complies with the distance, design, and other applicable standards set forth in Chapter 9.36 and the Bul-

⁷ The "annular space" is the "space between two well casings or between the casing and the wall of the drilled hole." (AA 3:485.)

letin, DER issues the permit. DER issues hundreds of these permits each year. (AA 3:716 [Stipulated Fact 11].)

The County has always considered review of these well-construction permits to be a ministerial function of DER and thus exempt from CEQA. (AA 3:715-16 [Stipulated Facts 2, 3, 9(a)(3), 9(b)(2)].) In fact, when the Board of Supervisors first adopted implementing procedures for CEQA in 1983, it included well-construction permits on its list of ministerial approvals. (AA 3:680, 689; see also CEQA Guidelines § 15268(c) [each agency should "provide an identification or itemization of its projects and actions which are deemed ministerial"].)

The Ordinance also allows applicants for well-construction permits to request a variance from one or more requirements of the Ordinance. (§ 9.36.110.) The variance process is distinct from DER's consideration of standard, non-variance well-construction permits. (AA 3:715-16 [Stipulated Facts 2, 3, 9].) It confers discretion on the County health officer to "authorize an exception to any provision of this chapter [9.36] when, in his/her opinion, the application of such provision is unnecessary." (§ 9.36.110.) The health officer "shall prescribe thereon such conditions as, in his or her judgment, are necessary to protect the waters of the state from pollution." (*Ibid.*) The County acknowledges that variance permits are discretionary, and DER would perform environmental review under CEQA before issuing any variance permit. (AA 3:715-16 [Stipulated Fact 9(b)(1)].) Plaintiffs do not challenge the County's issuance of variance permits.

II. The State and County begin to regulate groundwater extraction in 2014.

Given its exclusive focus on preventing improper well design and construction from contaminating groundwater, the Ordinance—and the Bulletin's standards that it incorporated—did nothing to control the extraction or use of groundwater. (See California Water, supra, 25 Cal.App.5th 666, 677.) Indeed, few jurisdictions have regulated groundwater extraction until recently. In 2014, responding to a historic drought and largely unregulated overdraft of groundwater, both the State and County passed legislation to regulate groundwater extraction for the first time.

The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act ("SGMA") (Stats. 2014, chs. 346-348 (codified at Water Code §§ 10721 et seq.)) requires that public water agencies, counties, and other local agencies adopt groundwater sustainability plans by 2020 or 2022 and that those plans result in sustainable groundwater management within 50 years. (See Water Code §§ 10721(k), (r), (v), 10727, 10727.2(c).) SGMA defines sustainable groundwater management as practices that avoid the "undesirable results" of depleted groundwater levels, reduced aquifer storage capacity, degraded groundwater quality, land subsidence, and impacts on interconnected surface water. (Id. § 10721(x).)

In November 2014, after several years of policy development, the Board of Supervisors amended Chapter 9.37 of the County Code to regulate groundwater extraction in the County. (AA 3:715 [Stipulated Fact 4]; see also AA 1:160-68 [Ordinance No. C.S. 1155].) Chapter 9.37 now requires applicants for well-

construction permits to demonstrate that proposed wells will not cause or substantially contribute to the "unsustainable extraction of groundwater." (§§ 9.37.040(A), 9.37.050(A).) It defines unsustainable extraction as use of groundwater in a manner that, over the long term, will substantially contribute to the same "undesirable results" identified in SGMA. 9 (§ 9.37.030(6), (8)-(9).)

For permits subject to Chapter 9.37, DER must determine if use of the proposed well will cause impacts such as "[s]ignificant and unreasonable" reductions in groundwater storage, degradation of water quality, and land subsidence. (§ 9.37.030.) Chapter 9.37 does not define or limit what makes an impact "significant" or "unreasonable." (*Ibid.*) These determinations fall within DER's delegated discretion and are subject to CEQA. (AA 3:715-16 [Stipulated Fact 9(a)(2)].)

Since the County's amendment of Chapter 9.37, DER regulates well construction in a two-step process. DER first determines whether the proposed permit is subject to regulation under Chapter 9.37. (AA 3:715-16 [Stipulated Fact 9(a)].) If the permit is exempt from the prohibition on "unsustainable extraction of groundwater" in Chapter 9.37, DER evaluates the application

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