IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PROTECTING OUR WATER & ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

FILED

v.

MAR 1 9 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

STANISLAUS COUNTY et al., Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fifth Appellate District Case No. F073634

Appeal from the Stanislaus County Superior Court
Case No. 2006153
The Honorable Roger M. Beauchesne, Judge, Presiding

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Thomas N. Lippe (SBN 104640) Law Offices of Thomas N. Lippe, APC 201 Mission Street, 12th Floor San Francisco, California 94105 Telephone: (415) 777-5604

Facsimile: (415) 777-5606 Email: Lippelaw@sonic.net

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

Moreover, the County failed to exercise the discretion conferred by the separation standard because it was "misinformed regarding its discretionary authority." (Valley Advocates v. City of Fresno (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 1039, 1063 ["a prejudicial abuse of discretion occurs when a public agency is misinformed regarding its discretionary authority and, as a result, does not actually choose whether to exercise that discretionary authority"].) The County did not refuse to apply CEQA to well permits approved under Chapter 9.36 based on factual determinations that no well permits presented conditions requiring it to depart from the separation standard's objective guideposts. The County concedes that, except for certain permit applications subject to County Code, Chapter 9.37 (adopted after this case was filed) and which are unaffected by the outcome of this case, it has a policy of not applying CEQA to well permits based solely on the County's long-standing policy that such permits are ministerial, and the County applies this policy without regard to the particular facts pertaining to a well application. (AA 74 [Fact 10].) Thus, the County refuses to apply CEQA based on its policy and belief that it has no such discretion to exercise. This represents a prejudicial abuse of discretion because the County is "misinformed regarding its discretionary authority," which is a failure to proceed in the manner required by law. (Id.)

Also, the County's obligation to exercise the discretion conferred by the separation standard is not dependent on Appellants or other members of the public proving, in the first instance, that one or more well permits present conditions requiring a departure from the standard's objective guideposts and the exercise the discretion. Any such rule would contravene well-settled law governing "preliminary review" under CEQA.

The CEQA process begins with the lead agency undertaking a "preliminary review" to determine whether CEQA applies to a proposed activity and, if so, whether the activity is exempt. (Davidon Homes, supra, 54 Cal.App.4th at 112-13 ["The first tier is jurisdictional, requiring that an agency conduct a preliminary review in order to determine whether CEQA applies to a proposed activity ... the Legislature has determined that ministerial projects are exempt from CEQA review"]; HCD, supra, 45 Cal.App.3d at 192 ["When the permit application is filed, the granting agency must, as an initial matter, inquire whether the permit is a 'discretionary' or a 'ministerial' project as defined by CEQA"]; CEQA § 21080; Guidelines §§ 15002(k); 15061.)

Further, CEQA lead agencies have an affirmative duty to evaluate the factual basis for whether CEQA applies to a project. (Berkeley Hillside I, supra, 60 Cal.4th at 1103; Muzzy Ranch, supra, 41 Cal.4th at 386, quoting Davidon Homes, supra, at 117.) The County's position that it may treat well permits as "ministerially" exempt from CEQA review as a matter of policy, rather than fact, unless and until a member of the public presents evidence that a well permit application present conditions requiring a departure from the standard's objective guideposts and to exercise discretion is inconsistent with this Court's holdings in Bank of Italy v. Johnson, Berkeley Hillside I and Muzzy Ranch and with the Court of Appeal holding in Valley Advocates.

The County's reliance on Sierra Club v. County of Sonoma is misplaced. In that case, with respect to provisions of the grading ordinance that the Court of Appeal decided did not apply to the project at issue, the Court reasoned that the evidence in the record did not show, as a matter of fact, that these provisions applied to the project. (Id. at 25.) This portion of the County of Sonoma decision is both distinguishable and wrongly decided.

County of Sonoma is distinguishable because it was a mandamus action seeking to void the approval of one development project. The Court in County of Sonoma did not decide whether the ordinance generally granted the County sufficient discretion to require CEQA review. Rather, the Court framed the relevant question to be "whether the regulations granted the agency discretion regarding the particular project." (Id. at 25.) Appellants' claim here does not concern the application of the County's ordinance to a particular well permit. Appellants' declaratory relief claim in this action seeks to change the County's policy of treating well permits as "ministerially" exempt from CEQA regardless of any factual showing. Under current County policy, any factual showing that a permit requires a departure from the standard's objective guideposts and the exercise of discretion is simply irrelevant.

The prayer for declaratory relief seeks to change that policy prospectively. (Kirkwood v. California State Automobile Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 49, 59 ["Declaratory relief operates prospectively ...]; Gafcon, Inc. v. Ponsor & Associates (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1388, 1403 ["Declaratory relief operates prospectively and not merely for the redress of past wrongs"].) Thus, assuming arguendo that the public must make such a factual showing, at a minimum, Appellants are entitled, to a judicial declaration that the County's current policy is unlawful.

Moreover, County of Sonoma implicitly acknowledged that some provisions of the grading ordinance, where applicable, would require the exercise of discretion and therefore trigger the need for CEQA review. Thus, Sonoma County could not declare that all projects subject to the grading ordinance are ministerial and exempt from CEQA review as a matter of policy.

Also, this portion of the County of Sonoma decision is poorly reasoned. By focusing on the absence of facts in the record showing the proposed vineyard's site characteristics and engineering specifications were subject to specific discretionary provisions in the ordinance, the Court in County of Sonoma shifted the burden of environmental fact-gathering under CEQA away from the agency and onto the public. For example, with respect to an ordinance provision requiring diversion of storm water runoff 'to the nearest practicable disposal location," County of Sonoma states: "By failing to demonstrate that other means of diversion were even available, petitioners have not established that the Commissioner had discretion under this provision." (Id. at 342.) This reasoning is flawed because it does not address how an objecting party can reasonably be expected to obtain such information, which presumably would require detailed knowledge of the site's topographic characteristics, surface water hydrology, terrestrial and aquatic habitat values, soil types, tree and vegetation types, among other physical factors. The holding in County of Sonoma, if applied to well permits, would put an impossible burden on the public because the County issues well construction permits without any notice or opportunity to be heard.8 As discussed above, such a rule is inconsistent with this Court's

⁸See AA 73 [Fact 6], 80-113; 74 [Fact 12] 115-146; see also and Respondents' Request for Judicial Notice, filed in the Court of Appeal on or

precedents governing preliminary review under CEQA.9

The County's reliance on San Remo Hotel is also misplaced. San Remo Hotel involved a challenge to the constitutionality of San Francisco's residential hotel conversion regulations. This Court noted that for a facial challenge based on the contention that the fee assessed for conversion of residential units to tourist units does not bear a reasonable relationship to the loss of housing, plaintiffs must "demonstrate from the face of the ordinance that fees assessed under the HCD bear no reasonable relationship to housing loss in the generality or great majority of cases." (Id. at 673 [italics added].) The County fails to explain why this rule should, or how it could, apply to the functional test for discretion under CEQA.

Also, as noted above, even if this rule applies here, the separation standard does apply to all permits approved under Chapter 9.36 because the County must exercise the discretion it confers, even if it ultimately decides not to deviate from the standard's objective guideposts on any given permit.

C. County Code Chapter 9.36 Incorporates the General Discretionary Standards Set Forth in the State Bulletins.

In its Answer to the Petition for Review, Appellants specified the following additional issue: Does Stanislaus County's local groundwater well permit ordinance incorporate the state Bulletins' general discretionary

about April 25, 2017; Document 2, ¶ 36. In the Court of Appeal, the County applied for judicial notice of portions of the record on appeal in the related case entitled Coston v. Stanislaus County, Supreme Court Case No. S251721, as to which this Court granted a "review and hold" pending decision in the instant case. Appellants have never objected to this portion of the County's request.

⁹ Troublingly, the *County of Sonoma* opinion imposes this burden on the public even as it acknowledges that there likely will be no meaningful opportunity for public participation given the 'informal' nature of this type of permit process. (Id. at p. 30, fn. 19.)

standards, and thereby confer discretionary authority triggering CEQA review? These general discretionary standards are described in section II.C of this brief.

With respect to these general discretionary standards, the Opinion states: "The parties disagree, however, as to whether other provisions in the Bulletin are incorporated by section 9.36.150. We need not resolve that issue because we conclude a provision the parties do agree was incorporated – i.e., the contamination source spacing standard – renders the issuance of well permits discretionary." (Opinion 10, n. 9.)

These general discretionary standards clearly provide the permitting authority without sufficient discretion to "modify" well construction permits to protect the environment. Therefore, these standards meet the functional test for discretion under CEQA. (*Friends of Westwood, supra*, 191 Cal.App.3d at 272.)

The County argues that "Because the Bulletin is not self-executing, that language is relevant to DER's permitting only to the extent the Board adopted and incorporated it in the Ordinance." As discussed in more detail below, this way of framing the issue is too narrow. But even if the County correctly framed the issue, section 9.36.050 incorporates these general discretionary standards.

The County argues that these general grants of discretion are not "standards" as that term is used in section 9.36.050. The County relies on a dictionary definition of "standard" as "[s]omething that is established by authority, custom, or general consent, as a model or example to be followed; criterion; test." (DOB 51.) The Bulletins' general grants of discretion meet this definition because they establish a "criterion" for granting well-permits. This criterion is protection of groundwater quality "equal to that provided by these standards." (AA 129 [Bulletin No. 74,

Chapter II: "Under certain circumstances, adequate protection of groundwater quality may require more stringent standards than these presented here; under other circumstances, it may be necessary to deviate from the standards or substitute other measures which will provide protection equal to that provided by these standards" (italics added)]; AA 150 [Bulletin No. 74-81, Chapter II, Part I, section 3: "the enforcing agency may ... prescribe alternative requirements which are "equal to" these standards in terms of protection obtained (italics added)].)

The fact that the general grants of discretion are qualitative rather than quantitative and require the exercise of judgment by the permitting authority does not mean they do not establish a "criterion." Indeed, qualitative criteria that require the exercise of discretion are routine under CEQA. (Mission Bay Alliance v. Office of Community Investment & Infrastructure (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 160, 201 ["The Guidelines grant agencies 'discretion to determine, in the context of a particular project, whether to: [¶] ... quantify greenhouse gas emissions resulting from a project ... and/or [¶] [r]ely on a qualitative analysis or performance based standards.' (CEQA Guidelines, § 15064.4, subd. (a).)"]; CEQA Guidelines, § 15064.7 subd. (a) ["A threshold of significance is an identifiable, quantitative, qualitative, or performance level of a particular environmental effect, non-compliance with which means the effect will normally be determined to be significant by the agency and compliance with which means the effect normally will be determined to be less than significant"].)

Another dictionary definition of "standard" is "something set up and established by authority as a rule for the measure of ... value or quality." (Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, 11th Ed., p. 1216.)

Again, the general grants of discretion "establish a rule for the measure of value" consisting of protection of groundwater quality "equal to that

provided by these standards."

In addition, the County's focus on the word "standard" in isolation is excessive. The state Bulletins use the word "requirement" interchangeably with the word "standard." For example, Bulletin No. 74-81, at Chapter II, Part I, section 3, provides: "If the enforcing agency finds that compliance with any of the requirements prescribed herein is impractical for a particular location ... the enforcing agency may ... prescribe alternative requirements which are "equal to" these standards in terms of protection obtained." (AA 150 [Bulletin 74-81, Chapter II, § 3] (emphasis added).) The word "requirement" is defined as "something essential to the existence or occurrence of something else." (Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, 11th Ed., p. 1216.) The Bulletins provide both predetermined objective "requirements" or "standards" and general discretionary "requirements" or "standards" as "essential to the occurrence of something else," i.e., protection of groundwater quality.

The County's construction of section 9.36.150 ignores the rule that courts "do not view the language of the statute in isolation." (*MacIsaac v. Waste Management Collection & Recycling, Inc.* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1083.) Also, courts "do not construe statutes in isolation, but rather read every statute with reference to the entire scheme of law of which it is part so that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness." (*Berkeley Hillside I,* 60 Cal.4th at 1099–1100 (internal quotes and citations omitted).) Also "the 'plain meaning' rule does not prevent a court from determining whether the literal meaning of the statute comports with its purpose" and courts will "not follow the plain meaning of the statute when to do so would frustrate the manifest purposes of the legislation as a whole." (*People v. Young* (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 972, 978–979 (internal quotes omitted.)

Also, the County's narrow framing of the issue obscures the fact that the County was required to adopt its ordinance by a state law requiring that it adopt an ordinance that "meets or exceeds the standards" adopted by the state. (Water Code § 13801, subd. (c), AA 412-13[DWR Bulletin 74-81].) State law does not discriminate, for purposes of requiring that local ordinances "meet or exceed" its standards, between its quantitative and qualitative standards. The County's view would put the local ordinance at odds with the state law that requires it to "meet or exceed" the state standards and violate the rule of statutory construction against interpreting a statute in a way that defeats its purpose, which in this case is the adequate protection of groundwater.

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